Not with a Bang, but with a Whisper:

Utilizing a Restorative Justice Framework

to Address Issues of Ecocide and Environmental Harm

by

Norliyana Menes

A Thesis Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science

Approved April 2023 by the Graduate Supervisory Committee:

Abigail Henson, Chair Alyssa Chamberlain Kwan-Lamar Blount-Hill

ARIZONA STATE UNIVERSITY

August 2023

ABSTRACT

Human activity, such as industrialization and deforestation, have led to an increase in global temperatures and natural disaster events that have resulted in the death of over two million people and an economic loss of over USD \$3.64 trillion in the last 50 years. Governments, organizations, and activists across the globe have tried to reduce the collateral consequences of human activity on the planet; however, even with increased attention to these issues, there has yet to be much discussion of accountability for planetary harm. Greenhouse gas emissions, waste dumping, and climate change mostly result from individuals, corporations, and governments exploiting the planet of its natural resources freely, without direct and immediate consequence. In the field of criminal justice, the criminalization of and penalization for engagement in certain acts is meant to deter harmful acts. Therefore, to deter auto-genocide, one must ask whether perpetrators of global harm should be held accountable, and what accountability might look like in these scenarios. This article explores traditional definitions of "crime," punishment, and the criminal label, and discusses the possibility of holding perpetrators of ecocide and the impending auto-genocide accountable utilizing a restorative justice framework.

DEDICATION

This work would not have been possible without the people who kept me passionate and helped me to believe in myself. Grandpa, thank you for always showing interest in anything I was passionate about, even when those things may have seemed silly. I couldn't have made it this far without your belief in me. Dr. Wachholz, you were my guide into my first understandings of criminology. Your confidence in me and willingness to help me navigate my academic journey has been instrumental in getting me to this point in my career. To my partner, thank you for your patience and understanding, and for being my rock through everything. To my friends and family who listened, nodded, and humored me, thank you. I am grateful to you all.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

As a student of ASU, I acknowledge that the Phoenix campus sits on the ancestral homelands of those American Indian tribes that have inhabited this place for centuries, including the Akimel O'odham (Pima) and Pee Posh (Maricopa) peoples.

I would like to express my gratitude to my advisor for the opportunity to work on this project, and for their guidance and support throughout my master's programme. I would also like to thank my committee members for taking time to serve on my committee.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER

1	INTRODUCTION	1
	Harms & Crimes	1
	Intrinsic Value	1
	The Metabolic Rift	1
	Ecocide	1
	Accountability	1
2	THE WILLOW PROJECT, OIL DRILLING, & A RESTORATIVE JUSTICE	
	FRAMEWORK	2
	Oil & The American Experience	2
	The History & Importance of Oil & Oil Drilling	2
	Environmental Protection: The History, The EPA, & Current State of Affairs?	2
	The Willow Project	2
	The Project: Who, What, When, & Why	2
	The Willow Project as an Example	2
3	DISCUSSION	3
4	IMPLICATIONS	4
5	CONCLUSION	5
REFERE	NCES	6

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

The human overconsumption of natural resources and accumulation of waste have created significant negative impacts on the environment, including climate change. However, the global impact of environmental harms is not simply the result of aggregate individual acts; rather, corporations have a significant environmental impact on the globe. One hundred energy companies are responsible for 71% of all industry-led emissions, and further, the top fifteen U.S. food and beverage corporations generate over 630 million metric tons of greenhouse emissions each year (NRDC, 2019).

When a corporation commits a harmful act against the environment, the repercussion of this act is a fine (Cornell Law School, 2022). The cost of adhering to environmental policy can be relatively high, such as the costs of maintaining proper waste disposal or using approved chemicals that may be more expensive than their unapproved variants; these fines are a significant financial cost, and thus aim to offset the potential financial gains in committing harmful behavior (Cornell Law School, 2022). However, fines and other financial repercussions have been shown to not be a significant enough motivator in stemming harmful corporate behavior (South, 1998). Fines and monetary consequences can be absorbed by large corporations and can also be passed down to consumers in the form of increasing product or service pricing (South 1998; Ruggiero & South, 2010). Further, harmful actions that are committing by corporate entities can be difficult to prosecute due to multiple involved actors. Thus, current regulatory practice is not sufficient in stemming harmful corporate action against the

1

environment and, further, difficulty in establishing accountability compounds the lack of impetus to stop harmful behavior.

However, legally, corporations have been granted the status of an individual and are viewed within the lens of the law as having moral responsibility. Therefore, it may be possible to attempt to address harmful corporate acts using policies traditionally used for individual accountability, such as restorative justice. Restorative justice policies, which prioritize the restoration of harm with the goal of healing, have been employed to address acts that are deemed criminal in cases of individualistic instances. However, little consideration has been offered as to the utility of restorative justice in addressing corporate harms and crimes against the environment (Preston, 2011; Stark, 2016; Wijdekop & van Hoek, 2019; Forsyth, Soares, & Tepper, 2021). This thesis aims to fill a gap in the literature by providing a framework for implementing restorative justice practices in the case of corporate harm toward the environment.

Current justice practices focus on punishment and retribution, though supporters of the system claim that there is a focus upon rehabilitation (Cocklin, 1977; Mackenzie, 2001). These practices, such as the death penalty where the possibility of rehabilitation seems futile in the light of a sentence of death, center any act that is deemed criminal as an offense against the state and doesn't allow much agency to the victim in the pursuit of "justice" (Calhoun, 2013). Further, these practices have been shown to have little success in deterring future harmful behavior and recidivism (Benecchi, 2021). Centering a restorative justice approach instead of a retributive one, allows for a focus on healing and restoration, for the victim and their community, as well as for the offender (Hillyard & Tombs, 2007; Menkel-Meadow, 2007; Wijdekop & van Hoek, 2019). Restorative justice principles prioritize the victim's needs over the state's and employs the concept of social equality to establish respect and dignity throughout the process of restoration (Calhoun, 2013). Ultimately, the goal is to meet the needs of all actors (victims, community, and offenders) and establish accountability without causing further harm in any form.

This article will begin with a discussion of the nuanced differences between harm and crime, followed by a consideration of intrinsic value. The concepts of ecocide, or massive devastation to the environment, and Marx's metabolic rift will then be introduced to highlight how current economic and social practices exacerbate the issues of environmental harm and ecocide. This will then be followed by a deeper analysis of accountability within the current United States' justice system and how restorative justice may be utilized to create healthier and safer communities. The example of the current oil drilling project in Alaska called the Willow Project will be discussed, drawing upon this restorative justice framework. For an auto-genocide, or the self-inflicted death of the human species, to be avoided, there must be an impetus for harmful actions against the environment to cease through consequences and accountability of those who do commit such acts.

Harms & Crimes

Understanding how crime and harm are constituted amongst legal and social boundaries, as well as who is considered criminal, is essential to the conversation on the mass destruction of the environment, ecocide, and environmental harm. Traditional views on crime and those who are deemed criminal tend to exclude certain harmful actions, such as harm against the environment (Hillyard & Tombs, 2004; Michalowksi, 2008; Greenfield & Paoli, 2013). In 1998, Henry and Lanier identified six ways criminologists tend to define crime, these definitions of crime range from acts that are prohibited, prosecuted, and punished by criminal law to acts that incite moral outrage (Henry & Lanier, 1998). Definitions and considerations of what crime is also differs between cultures, countries, and even within communities. The constant changing of laws and regulations over time also serves as a demonstration that considerations of crime can be altered; what may be considered a criminally deemed act one year, may be completely decriminalized the next (Michalowksi, 2016).

This variability in the definitions and constructions of crime illustrates that crime in itself is a social construct and demonstrates that "crime" has no ontological reality. Meaning, without a story of who or what is criminal, crime would be impossible to recognize (Hillyard & Tombs, 2004). This is why different cultures and governments have differing criminal statutes and laws; what one culture may consider criminal, another may not. One can view the banning of abortion as an example of this. Across the United States, state governments have chosen to ban or protect individuals' rights to abortion, with some areas criminalizing the act of attempting, providing, or successfully undergoing an abortion (Davis, 2022). This understanding of crime as a social construct has several implications, including that criminal acts and harmful acts are not always synonymous. Further, it also allows the understanding that certain harmful actions, such as homicide, are regarded as more serious harms than others, such as pollution.

Corporate environmental harms are largely considered outside the scope of "crime," and so accountability for these harms is rare; often, if and when there are repercussions for these types of harms, such as toxic waste dumping, they are largely financial, i.e., fines or compensation penalties, which most corporations can easily absorb or pass off on consumers (Ruggiero & South, 2010; Michalowski, 2008; Michalowski, 2015; Hillyard & Tombs, 2004). Understanding that crime is a subjective concept with no ontological reality provides context for why environmental harms are not taken as seriously as other forms of harm or acts that are deemed criminal, such as street crime.

Intrinsic Value

Amongst the consideration of crime and harm, another important aspect to discuss is the idea of who is a victim and, further, what traits or aspects of this individual make them worthy of being a victim. When considering that crime itself is a social construct, it becomes important to consider that who or what we consider to be a victim is also subjective.

The concept of intrinsic value has its roots within traditional Indigenous knowledge and philosophical constructs. At its core, intrinsic value describes that any entity has value for the sole reason that it exists (Sandler, 2012). Intrinsic value is unconditional and is not determined by human consideration. American consumer culture, and the prevalence of capitalism and instrumental value demonstrates that intrinsic value is not prioritized when considering non-human entities, that is that an entity only has value if it is useful to the continuation of human supremacy over other species and the environment (Marx, 1984; Sandler, 2012; Crook & Short, 2014). Instrumental value dictates that the value of an entity is ascribed by its usefulness for human utilization, intrinsic value instead considers the entity to have value simply because it exists. Current society prioritizes the instrumental value of an entity, which has led to the overuse and overconsumption of natural resources, which in turn has led to events of ecocide, terminal erosion, and environmental harm (Marx, 1894; Crook & Short, 2014; Lindgren, 2018). If instead intrinsic value is prioritized, then it becomes obvious that all entities deserve to be considered victims in events of harm.

Within modern society, especially cultures that prioritize a capitalistic economy, instrumental value, instead of intrinsic value, takes the forefront. Instrumental value posits that the value of an entity is conditional and is based upon the utility of that entity for human survival or use (Sandler, 2012). Historically, one of the main components necessary for a case of environmental harm to be deemed worthy of legal consideration is that the act must have a negative impact on human life (von Solinge, 2010; Van Uhm, 2017; Ruggiero & South, 2010; South, 1998; South & Wyatt, 2011; Higgins, Short, & South, 2013). However, if intrinsic value is considered within scopes of justice, it allows for the establishment of all entities, and not just humans, to be viable victims of harm. The concept of a viable victim considers who or what is *worthy* of being the victim of an act deemed criminal. Largely, orthodox criminology views viable victims as human, and even then, this varies based on race, gender identity, and profession (Strega, et al., 2014; Richardson & May, 2001).

The expansion upon the idea of who and what is a victim of harm, such as an ecosystem, non-human animals such as bears or birds, or even vegetation, trees, or permafrost, would allow for the establishment of accountability for those who commit harmful acts upon these entities as well. In an anthropocentric world, it becomes necessary for humans to help advocate for non-human entities. This can be done by advocates, activists, and, perhaps most crucially, subject experts. For example, considering trees to be viable victims and enlisting advocates from the academic community, such as a dendrologist, or environmental activists to supply information and

discourse regarding the harm that has been committed against the victim. This would lead to the establishment of accountability because it would allow for the centering of the victim and their advocates in providing context to the harm the actions caused. Within this context, then, the point is not to ensure nothing, and no one is ever harmed, but instead to prioritize respect and dignity to all entities and provide restoration when harm is caused. For example, while Native American communities do hunt animals for food and resources, they do so with rituals of respect towards the animal, as well as, hunting for necessity instead of sport to avoid overconsumption (Harrod, 2000).

The Metabolic Rift

The prioritization of instrumental value over intrinsic value is an example of what Karl Marx describes as a metabolic rift. Marx and similar scholars are frequently criticized for their disregard of the environment and ecology in their theories (Foster, 1999). However, during the soil erosion crisis in England during the nineteenth century, where the over-exploitation of soil led to terminal erosion and triggered an agricultural crisis, Marx asserted that, like human labor, nature is exploitable and only important so far as it serves a purpose for profit (1894). Marx described the social metabolism of profit-driven practices as placing great strain on nature (1894). Social metabolism describes the ways that societies use, manage, transform, and discard materials, resources, and nature (Marx, 1894; Foster, 1999). Thus, the social metabolism of current American consumerism (over-consumption) creates an inability to regulate energy and resources adequately, leading to a metabolic rift.

7

Marx described metabolism as a constant exchange between humans and nature: humans cannot survive without nature, and nature is linked to itself, as humans are a part of nature (Foster, 1999). As previously mentioned, many of the actions that would lead to a metabolic rift are not acts that are deemed criminal, though they are certainly harmful (Crook & Short, 2014). When considering a topic such as the environment, the concept of the metabolic rift becomes important to describe the consequence of continued negative action. To continue to disregard the intrinsic value of all entities means that there will be continued overconsumption of resources, the environment, and non-human animals to the point that they will not be able to regenerate themselves. Without stemming our overconsumption and respecting and recognizing all entities as worthy of survival, the metabolic rift will continue to worsen. Examples of this can be seen in excessive carbon emissions that are damaging the atmosphere and causing temperature rises on a global scale, or toxic waste dumping that is causing cancers and other health risks (Lindsey & Dahlman, 2023; Environmental Protection Agency, 2023). If these harms are not ceased, and accountability is not established, the final result will be the eventual termination of the human species.

Ecocide

Critics of the fields of criminology and genocide studies have expressed concerns over the lack of consideration for non-human entities, such as plants and non-human animals (Lindgren, 2018; Eichler, 2020). Further, criticism also considers the lack of respect for indigenous ontologies and epistemologies– leading to fields that are very anthropocentric and Western-focused (Etchart, 2017; Eichler, 2020). To address some critiques of both genocide studies and the field of criminology, Professor Arthur W. Galston introduced the concept of "ecocide" in 1970 at the Conference on War and National Responsibility (Lindgren, 2018). Galston described ecocide as the purposeful and permanent destruction of an environment that renders it uninhabitable (Brady, 2014). Since then, ecocide has come to be defined as an act or series of actions that lead to the extensive damage to, destruction of, or loss of ecosystem(s), whether by human agency or other causes, to such an extent that peaceful enjoyment and habitation of the area by the inhabitants of that territory are severely diminished or no longer possible (Lindgren, 2018).

While the definitions of ecocide provide an understanding of how detrimental these harmful acts are, there is still little consideration for establishing accountability or consequence for committing ecocidal acts. This leads to a lack of significant repercussions for committing harmful acts against the environment. As has been mentioned previously, the consequence for committing harmful behaviors against the environment on a corporate level are fines which does not address the issue or necessarily resolve it (South, 1998; Cornell Law School, 2022). Most corporations are able to absorb these costs, are pass them down to consumers, as they are less expensive than following environmental guidelines (South, 1998; Wijdekop & van Hoek, 2019; Cornell Law School, 2022). Further, this exemplifies that current practice prioritizes the needs of the state over that of any victims involved. While the funds from the fine payments may be used in attempts to clean up the harm that was caused, there is little consideration of the victims of the harm, instead the focus is on paying back the state for the harm caused. This type of repercussion usually does not stop the harm, it simply generates an

9

inconvenience in harmful corporate behavior (South, 1998; Wijdekop & van Hoek, 2019). A restorative justice approach would instead center the victims and how the harm has affected them, involving the victim, their community, advocates of the victims (such as advocates for non-human victims), and the offender(s) (Calhoun, 2013). This allows for a process of healing and restoration by prioritizing the needs of the victims and communities instead of the needs of the state.

Further, ecocide is a consequence of a metabolic rift. Considering the currently accepted definition of ecocide, the actions that lead to an area being devastated to the point of incapability to support peaceful enjoyment of the space are based largely on overconsumption and the disregard for intrinsic value (Marx, 1894; Lindgren, 2018). As Marx (1894) asserted, the environment and the resources within it are exploitable in the push for profit, this shows that only instrumental value, or the value an entity has for human exploitation is considered in whether it deserves to survive and thrive in its natural circumstances. The practice of prioritizing instrumental value over intrinsic value allows for the social metabolism of overconsumption of resources and land area to reach the point of disallowing regeneration (Marx, 1984). When regeneration in an area is no longer possible, that area will decay to the point that it is no longer usable by its natural inhabitants (Marx, 1984; Lindgren, 2018). Thus, this overconsumption through the social metabolism of a society leads to a metabolic rift which then, in turn, is an ecocidal event. The consequences of a metabolic rift and ecocide events are dire to the human species and the non-human environment. As Marx (1984) has asserted, the destruction of the environment is the destruction of humankind, as humans are a part of the environment.

When first introducing the topic of ecocide in his 1970 address at the Conference on War and National Responsibility, Galston linked ecocide with the concept of genocide, describing the genocidal impact of environmental destruction (Crook & Short, 2014). Ultimately, humans require the environment to survive, the basic building blocks of life inclusive of the air we breathe, to the land we build shelters on are all a part of the environment. Further, humankind itself is a part of the environment. So, actions such as environmental harm and ecocide lead to the eventual inability to use and rely on our environment leading to an eventual termination of human existence (Marx, 1894). As much of the ecocide and environmental harm that occurs on a large scale are committed by humans, ecocide will eventually lead to an auto-genocide wherein human activity causes human extinction.

Indigenous populations, who have also raised the issue of the connection between ecocide and genocide, have been victims of this nexus for centuries in the name of colonization, urbanization, and development. As Wolfe (2006) articulates, colonization destroys so that the colonizer can replace what was there with their ideals. In the process of urbanization and the belief in development towards a "modern" way of life, traditional methods of living, such as traditional methods of caring for the environment like cultural burning or the usage of their language, are often destroyed (Wolfe, 2006). For many Indigenous communities, destruction came in the form of mass murder, the removal of cultural traditions and languages, the slaughtering and destruction of important resources, such as bison, and displacement to smaller land areas (Wolfe, 2006). While these issues have started to gain recognition by the general public, there still has yet to be any establishment of accountability for the harm caused to these communities. Further, the

11

destruction of the environment, non-human animals, and vegetation of the area continues to be ignored. Ultimately, for the establishment of accountability and for any form of justice to be served regarding these harms, there must be acceptance of these communities and entities as viable victims, which requires the consideration of their intrinsic value.

Accountability

Establishing accountability for environmental harm under the current retributive system can be very difficult due to issues with prosecuting these harms, multiple involved actors, and state sanctioning of harmful behavior (Lemkin, 1946; South, 1998; Michalowski, 2008; Wijdekop & van Hoek, 2019). A legal ramification of harmful corporate behavior against the environment is in the form of fines, however, in cases of oil drilling, for example, the corporation has gained agreement from the state (government) to conduct such behavior (South, 1998; Wijdekop & van Hoek, 2019; Cornell Law School, 2022). Thus, within this context of oil drilling, while there are many harmful outputs of the behavior such as massive carbon emissions or destruction of nonhuman animals' habitats, if the corporation adheres to the record of decision from the government there are no legal ramifications for the harmful behavior as it has been deemed acceptable loss in the pursuit of economic gain (South, 1998; Bureau of Land Management, 2023). Many advocates and activist groups have argued that this establishment of accountability via financial repercussions is not sufficient for the sustaining of our environment, arguing that the seriousness of the harm is not reflected in the repercussions for committing the behavior (Higgins, Short, & South, 2013; Earth

Justice, 2023). Ultimately, current practices have not been successful in stemming harmful corporate behavior against the environment made apparent by the fact that these behaviors have continued since the inception of environmental policy in the United States (South, 1998; Hazrati & Heffron, 2021).

Within a restorative justice framework that is applied to environmental harm, three specific goals emerge: one, that those who have committed harm or whose actions will generate harm take active responsibility and accountability for their actions, two, that communication and dialogue be shared at all steps of the process (both proactively and reactively), and three, that through the dialogue ultimately the offender(s) provide restoration towards those harmed by their actions and actively take strides to not cause harm in the future (Wijdekop & van Hoek, 2019; Forsyth, et al., 2021). Accepting active responsibility and accountability for harmful actions begins with the offender recognizing and accepting their behavior as harmful. This may happen before or during the course of dialogue with those impacted by the harmful behavior. This acceptance of responsibility and accountability will then manifest in restorative actions that are agreed upon by the victims, those who are impacted by the harm (the community), and the offender, for example, written or spoken apologies to those impacted by the harm and all viable victims of the harm (Wijdekop & van Hoek, 2019). In a proactive utilization of restorative justice methods, the framework would be applied to the decisions behind possibly harmful behaviors to ensure that all potential harms of the decision are addressed (Hazarati & Heffron, 2021). This would ensure that any harm or potential harm is removed from a process or decision prior to it being implemented. In a reactive approach, where a harmful action has been committed, restorative justice methods in the

form of conferences and storytelling will be held regarding the specific action and harms. This process requires communication and dialogue between all involved actors and should be led by a "keeper" who facilitates the conference (Calhoun, 2013). This "keeper" would be the equivalent of a judge, capable of unbiased review and maintaining civility and relevance to the conversation, to provide an example within the context of the current system. This conference must be accessible by all those who are impacted by the harm, thus utilizing modern technology such as video conferencing will also be a component of this approach.

In the example of the Willow Project, an oil drilling project, this process can be implemented in several stages. If the process begins prior to the submission for approval from the government to begin the project, then a proactive approach can be used to ensure that any harmful behavior can be stemmed before it begins, such as completely altering the project or halting it. As the project has been approved and is underway, the process takes a reactive approach. In this manner, through a restorative justice framework, the numerous outcries, petitions, and letters of disapproval against the project should be considered as communication from those who have been and may be harmed by the project. In this case, a conference involving all actors should be called upon. As there are many involved individuals and victims, this process should be conducted multiple times to ensure that all voices have a space within the conversation to tell their stories of how the harm has or will impact them. Ideally, this conference would take place within the context of the area and communities that would be immediately harmed by this behavior, in the case of the Willow project this may be in Alaska with the Native communities of the area, while also allowing others who have and will be harmed to

participate through other means, such as video conferencing, written statements, etc. This creates the space for dialogue and conversation to come to the ultimate resolution of the involved offenders, inclusive of ConocoPhillips and the Biden administration, to take active responsibility and accountability for their harmful behavior.

The overarching prioritization of a restorative justice framework, as opposed to a retributive model, is to ensure that justice is found through the focusing on the violation of social relationships, through the harmful behavior, and the needs of the involved actors, without creating further harm (Van Ness, 2005; Wijdekop & van Hoek, 2019; Forsyth, et al., 2021). Social relationships or the relationships between all involved actors, and the violation of them, are crucial to this process as it allows the centering of the needs of those impacted by the harm instead of the needs of the state (Calhoun, 2013). This is goal is completed through the process of communication and respect, that the current retributive system does not always employ due to the prioritization of the needs of the state over the needs of those who are harmed (Calhoun, 2013). In the consideration of ecocide or environmental harm, an example of a restorative justice outcome could be the requirement of training or education for the offender so that they are less likely to pursue the harmful act in the future, or audits of the corporation specifically considering environmental policies (Wijdekop & van Hoek, 2019).

The lack of proper establishment of accountability within the realm of environmental justice has often been a critique of the fields of criminology and criminal justice by activists and critical scholars (Crook & Short, 2014; Michalowski, 2008; Michalowski, 2015). Traditional means of holding accountability for harms and acts deemed criminal in the current criminal justice system centers retributive justice, which focuses on punishment. However, this kind of system can perpetuate harm and violence by subjecting individuals to inhumane conditions as punishment and by centering the system and its priorities instead of the victim in the search for "justice" (Hillyard & Tombs, 2004).

Hillyard and Tombs (2004) define the idea of punishment as "pain delivery." The intention of punishment is to deliberately impose "burdensome liability" for executing an act defined as unacceptable in order to stop that act from occurring again (Lamond, 2007). Under this definition, punishment is intended to deter individual behavior rather than incite change in the context or systems that likely instigated the individual's actions (Anderson, 1994; Singh & Sprott, 2016; Hillyard & Tombs, 2004). In events of corporate behavior causing ecocide or environmental harm this form of punishment is not feasible. When individuals violate environmental regulations, they may be faced with jail time, fines, or other repercussions, however, in the case of corporate behavior the only repercussion is a fine (Cornell Law School, 2022). As most corporations are able to absorb this cost or pass it down to their consumers it does not become the "burdensome liability" that traditionally ensures accountability for the harmful action. (South, 1998; Hillyard & Tombs, 2004). Thus, because, largely, the costs of the fines are less than the cost of creating infrastructure and corporate practice that aligns with environmental sustainability guidance, there is no strong impetus to cease harmful corporate actions (Cornell law School, 2022; South 1998). Environmental harm, such as improper waste dumping or pollution is simply more cost effective for the large majority of corporations.

Further, to a great extent, large-scale harms against the environment are not committed by individuals and instead are committed by organizations, corporations, or larger groups (NRDC, 2019). This focus on retribution and individualistic punishment limits the ability of current regulations to establish accountability and provide impetus to cease harmful activity against the environment. As stated previously, current methods to attempt to establish accountability involve fines to the offending organization, however there may not be any follow up to the incident, or considerations of negating future harmful behavior (Cornell Law School, 2022). This approach also centers the violation the corporation committed against the state, it does not center the victims or the communities that experienced the harm (Schwendinger & Schwendinger, 1977; South, 1998; Wijdekop & van Hoek, 2019). Thus, in cases of ecocide and environmental harm within the current retributive system there is only the perpetuation of harm due to insufficient consequences and the lack of accountability towards future harmful behavior.

In opposition to the retributive justice model, restorative justice provides a more holistic and long-term solution to harmful behavior. While the term "restorative justice" was first coined by Albert Eglash in 1977, its principles are deeply embedded within Indigenous and traditional knowledge (Winfree Jr., 2002; Cunneen, 2002; Hazrati & Heffron, 2021; Van Ness, 2002; Van Ness & Strong, 2014; etc.). Many restorative justice practices, such as circle conferencing approaches in which dialogues are had by the victim(s), the communities, and the offender, are derived from the practices of Indigenous communities in conflict resolution and peacemaking (Van Ness, 2002; Calhoun, 2013). These practices center the victim(s) and the surrounding community, and focus on restoring any wrongdoing caused by harmful behavior or actions (Van Ness, 2002; Gabbay, 2005; Calhoun, 2013).

One large difference between restorative and retributive approaches is the inclusion of the community that may have been impacted by the harm (Calhoun, 2013). As restorative justice views acts that are deemed criminal and harmful behavior as violations of relationships between a community, a victim of harm, and a perpetrator of harm, the community is an integral part of the discussion (Gabbay, 2005). Allowing all those who are impacted by harm to be involved in discussions and storytelling regarding that harm creates the space for healing for everyone and not just specific actors (Calhoun, 2013). In the case of a corporation, the offenders may include members of higher management such as CEOs, vice-presidents, and managers, or other employees who choose to be involved. This addition allows regeneration of social ties and relationships as well. Restorative justice practices center resolutions that promote responsibility, inclusion, consent, repair, and reconciliation (Gabbay, 2005; Sarre, 1999).

Creating accountability utilizing principles of restorative justice can be done by making mandatory processes of conferences and dialogue within environmentally harmful behavior between all different actors, victims, communities, and offenders. There has been success in utilizing these methods outside of the United States in Canada and New Zealand (Wijdekop & van Hoek, 2019). In some cases, considering intrinsic value, trees and rivers have been considered victims of environmental harm in these countries (Wijdekop & van Hoek, 2019). The principles of restorative justice allow accountability to be established in a manner that is less harmful to all involved parties through communication and making amends, which take different forms depending on the situation. In some cases, amends can be in the form of written or spoken apologies, mandatory education and training for the offender, and community service work (Wijdekop & van Hoek, 2019; Calhoun, 2013). Some of these restoration efforts will be more symbolic in nature, as while trees, other vegetation, and non-human animals may not be able to receive written or spoken apologies, the act of apologizing provides legitimacy to the fact that these victims are viable victims of harmful behavior. Through a societal lens, this also will allow for a shift in culture towards universal acceptance of these entities' intrinsic value, and the fact that they are viable victims of harm. The focus of this process of justice is not punishment but the eventual repairing of relationships and the establishment of peace within the community (Van Ness, 2002).

As outlined within Marx's discussion of the metabolic rift, the prioritization of human interest and profit over all else creates the circumstances for ecocide and environmental devastation due to the overconsumption of resources and land area. This overconsumption stems from a lack of prioritization of intrinsic value, wherein society instead focuses largely on the instrumental value of an entity, or the value prescribed to it based on its usefulness for human gain due to the drive for profit within a capitalist society (Marx, 1894). This lack of acceptance of intrinsic value leads to a disregard for the environment, non-human animals, and vegetation as viable victims of harm. Further, the constant rush for profit also leaves many minority human communities, such as Indigenous communities, to suffer as well (Etchart, 2017; Lindgren, 2018). Due to current conceptions of harm and acts that are deemed criminal, acts of ecocide or environmental harm tend to lack sufficient establishment of accountability, leading to

19

little impetus to cease harmful actions (South, 1998; Cornell Law School, 2022). Utilizing a restorative justice model would allow for these concerns to be mitigated by recentering priorities and creating a space of reflection and repair. Centering the needs of the state when establishing accountability does not necessarily allow for the understanding of the harm that the offender caused. Utilizing a restorative justice circle conference method would allow for the offending parties that have committed the harm to understand how the harm is affecting the actual victims. Further, it allows for the victims, community, and all those impacted by the harm to have a say in the restoration that must occur in order for the harm to be repaired. Specifically for the Willow Project, this may lead to the project ideally not being done at all, or significantly changed. Considering intrinsic value allows a restorative justice model to create the circumstances for the resolution of harm for all viable victims. From here, moving forward, a restorative justice model will be applied to show the Willow Project as an example of how these practices can be implemented in reality to ensure that ecocide and environmental harm do not continue to be perpetuated.

CHAPTER 2

THE WILLOW PROJECT, OIL DRILLING, & A RESTORATIVE JUSTICE FRAMEWORK

Oil and its consumption are necessary for current American infrastructure, from transportation, such as gas-powered cars, to healthcare, in the manufacturing and distribution of medicines and supplies (Buell, 2012; Lincoln, 2005; Hess, et al., 2011). Within this section, oil and how it affects the American experience will be discussed, including a brief history of how oil has come to the forefront of the energy industry. Following this, a history of environmental protections and policy in the United States, as well as a consideration of the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), will be discussed. The actions of the Trump and Biden administration regarding the EPA will also be explored. Finally, the Willow Project will be discussed at length, followed by a review of the support and concerns of the project.

Oil & The American Experience

Global reliance on fossil fuels such as oil has been well-documented for decades. Scholars who discuss the historical importance of oil and fossil fuels in the United States point to natural disasters that have left parts of the country without energy and electricity for months on end, such as the 1998 ice storm that affected parts of New York and Maine that left large populations in the cold and dark for a long period of time (Lincoln, 2005). They describe how these events illustrate how deeply interwoven the American experience is with fossil fuel and oil consumption.

The History & Importance of Oil & Oil Drilling

In 1859, Americans struck oil in Pennsylvania, which generated a new industry and established the United States within a position of wealth and power (Buell, 2012). Oil continuously became more and more essential to the individual experience as previously unattainable things, like automobiles became an option for the lower working classes (Buell, 2012). With the integration of oil into industries and systems, there was the introduction of a new type of consumer culture wherein attainability by working-class individuals was possible. No longer was social and physical mobility limited in the way that it had been historically for these communities. Oil provided a relatively cheap and accessible option for energy with which anybody could become successful. While even at this time there were concerns about pollution within industrial and urban sites; they were quelled by the belief of progress. Cars and other automobiles allowed for the avoidance of animal waste that had cluttered the streets prior when horses were used for transportation. This belief in "cleanliness" allowed people to turn a blind eye towards air pollution as they could enjoy this new "cleaner" way of living utilizing gas and its companion – electricity (Buell, 2012).

Oil and electricity allowed for leaps in progress, including infrastructure and industry changes, such as telephone lines and power cables (Buell, 2012). Oil allowed the United States and its allies to win not one but two World Wars by creating the ability to invent weapons of mass destruction, such as tanks, diesel submarines, and TNT. Indeed, oil has been and continues to be integral to the American and global experience. From global wars to fried foods, oil has its reaches throughout every walk of life. Oil not only has an economic value but a cultural one, wherein facets of American life would be unrecognizable without it.

Environmental Protection: The History, The EPA, & Current State of Affairs

The history of environmental protection policy in the United States begins with the law of the land. The beginnings of a colonized America with the Revolutionary War and the Constitution laid the groundwork for environmental protections in the future of the country (Andrews, 2006). After the war concluded, the drive for a decentralized government led to the dissemination of power to the states, inclusive of policy regarding the environment (Andrews, 2006). In 1842, almost 60 years after the signing of the Treaty of Paris, which ended the Revolutionary War, the United States Supreme Court ruled that the individual states would inherit the legal authority over previously royalruled entities, including fish and wildlife, waters, and other natural resources (Andrews, 2006).

It was not until the mid to late 1900s that a federal program would be introduced to consider environmental harm and policy in the United States; by the 1960s, public concern for the environment had grown due largely to concerns regarding agent orange and chemical warfare in the Vietnam war (Ruckelshaus, 1985). While some regulatory boards and legislation regarding the environment existed previously, their power and authority were extremely limited. States, as had been since the constitution, had regulatory power over environmental decisions. During the 1960s, the introduction of biological and environmental warfare with Agent Orange and the Vietnam War thrust environmental issues into the spotlight. Technological advances also had a hand in the increase of concern for the environment by the public (Ruckelshaus, 1985). The introduction of color TV allowed for widespread understanding of water and air pollution that was not as evident in grayscale imagery (Ruckelshaus, 1985). Specifically, Ruckleshaus (1985) asserts that video of "brown smog against a blue sky" or a "yellow outfall flowing into a blue river" allows for a more descriptive understanding of environmental issues (p.456). Further issues with water and air pollution and the lack of action to reverse issues that stemmed from the introduction of oil and the industrial revolution started to become very apparent during this time frame. With these revelations came a slew of Congress-led laws and regulations regarding water and air pollution, waste disposal, radiation, toxic substances, and more (Ruckelshaus, 1985).

President Richard Nixon, in the early 1970s, introduced a 37-point message to the House of Representatives and Senate, which led to multiple regulatory and legislative considerations and established the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) (Environmental Protection Agency, 2023). The EPA would have the capacity and authority to research environmental issues and pollutants; monitor environmental conditions; establish baselines; set and enforce air and water quality standards; and conduct ecological risk assessments¹, amongst other goals (Environmental Protection Agency, 2023).

The EPA is the regulatory power to enforce the limited existing environmental regulations (Environmental Protection Agency, 2023). However, in recent years, the EPA has been further limited in its ability to function within its original purpose. Trump's appointment to the Environmental Protection Agency, Scott Pruitt proved to create the circumstances for many environmental policy changes. Amongst other things, Pruitt is a known climate change skeptic and spent the majority of his career prior to this

¹ A product of the insurance industry, ecological risk assessments were created in the 1970's to assess risks to public health and safety, as well as risks to the environment as a basis to regulatory decision making (Suter II, 2007).

appointment litigating against the EPA (Dillon, et al., 2017) Pruitt was instrumental in Trump's decision to withdraw from the Paris Climate Agreement, which was an international agreement towards reducing global greenhouse emissions and addressing climate change. Further, scholars have mentioned that under Trump and Pruitt, the EPA's goals shifted from environmental policy and protection towards business and industry interests, specifically industries that cause harm to the environment (Dillon, et al., 2018). This was done through political appointments, using specific rhetoric that did not include descriptions or phrases such as "pollution" or "climate change" and instead focused on "economic growth", executive orders by Trump, restructuring of science advisory boards, and the types of meetings Pruitt was taking during his appointment (Dillon, et al., 2018).

Under the Trump administration, the EPA experienced changes that many scholars of varying fields considered to be highly detrimental (Samet, Burke, & Goldstein, 2017). As previously stated, under Trump and Pruitt, many policies and previous goals of the EPA were changed and dismantled. During Pruitt's appointment to the EPA, the agency attempted to create difficulty or undo approximately thirty existing regulations, including the rejection of a ban on certain pesticides that had been shown to cause issues in childhood development and the revocation of the Clean Power Plan (Dillon, et al., 2018). The changes made to the EPA during the Trump administration opened the gates to many environmentally questionable dealings moving forward.

The Willow Project

Concerns regarding reliance on international oil reserves and importation, as well as a push towards supporting the American economy instead of foreign ones, have led to corporate push towards domestic oil drilling (Department of Energy, 2020). While oil

25

drilling in the United States on domestic soil is not a new development, the expansion of such projects, or the implementation of new ones, has been considered by many activists to go against the promises of the Biden administration during his presidential campaign (Protect Our Winters, 2023). There is further concern about the environmental and health impacts of the project and how it will impact global climate change and local Indigenous communities.

The Project: Who, What, When, & Why

The Willow Master Development Plan, known colloquially as the Willow Project, was proposed by the ConocoPhillips company to allow for oil drilling in Alaska's northern slope (United States Bureau of Land Management, 2023). Since 2012, ConocoPhillips has been considered an "upstream" company, which means that it focuses on the beginning aspects of the oil and gas process: exploration and drilling (Encyclopedia Britannica, 2023).

The area regarded as Alaska's Northern Slope is specifically entitled the National Petroleum Reserve by the Bureau of Land Management and spans approximately 23 million acres of land (U.S. Department of the Interior, 2023). While the area was specifically designated as a petroleum reserve in 1923 by President Warren Harding, it has been utilized for oil production since 1976, when the Prudhoe Bay field was created (U.S. Department of the Interior, 2023). It continues to be the site of much of America's oil production (National Energy Technology Laboratory, n.d.). Oil production in this area has been decreasing in the past few decades in part because of the age of the fields that are currently in place to produce oil. A fresh new project with new drilling and wells would resolve this issue (DeMarban, 2023). As Alaska's largest crude oil producer and as the owner of the largest amount of exploration leases, ConocoPhillips stands as the largest profiteer and best option for new drilling projects, such as the Willow Project (ConocoPhillips, 2023).

Initially, the Willow Project's record of decision, inclusive of its environmental impact evaluation, was green-lit by the Trump administration in October of 2020 (U.S. Department of the Interior, 2020). However, after further consideration by the U.S. District Court for Alaska, the EIS (Environmental Impact Statement) was remanded back to the Bureau of Land Management due to insufficiencies² in addressing the National Environmental Policy Act (U.S. Department of the Interior, 2023). The final Environmental Impact Statement conducted under the Biden administration upheld the approval but reduced the scope of the project (U.S. Department of the Interior, 2023).

The original plans for the project included five drill sites and multitudes of infrastructure related to those sites, inclusive of roads, bridges, and pipelines³. Of these plans, the new record of decision eliminated two of the drilling sites and thus removed the necessity for any of the proposed infrastructure regarding those two sites⁴. The new ROD and finalized Willow Project Plan still allows the company to produce roughly 180,000 barrels of oil a day at its peak (NPR, 2023).

² Specifically, the court remanded the ROD back to the BLM due to found insufficiencies regarding the following: 1) the BLM "improperly excluded analysis of foreign greenhouse gas emissions…", 2) improperly screened out alternatives from detailed analysis based on BLM's misunderstanding of leaseholders rights…", and 3) failed to give due consideration to the requirements in the NPRPA to afford 'maximum protection' to significant surface value in the Teshekpuk Lake Special Area…". (U.S. Department of the Interior, 2023).

³ The original ROD (Record of Decision) also included: a central processing facility, an operations center pad, up to 37 miles of gravel roads, seven bridges, up to 575.4 miles of ice roads during construction, an airstrip, up to 315.9 miles of pipeline, a gravel mine site on federal land in the Alaskan Northern Slope, a sealift barge transport, a constructed freshwater reservoir, and up to three boat ramps.

⁴ ConocoPhillips also agreed to relinquish their rights on 68,000 acres of existing exploratory land leases as a part of this decision.

Supporters of the Willow Project often mention aspects such as economic and financial benefits to the area and the United States. As per the most current Environmental Impact Statement by the EPA and BLM, in conjunction with multiple other organizations⁵, the alternatives and mitigation measures, such as limiting the project to three rather than five drilling pads, ensures limited impact upon the environment, human, and non-human wildlife. These alternatives include measures such as limiting helicopter trips and the amount of Project infrastructure. The Willow Project is projected to create 2500 construction jobs and 300 permanent jobs, over \$10 billion in revenue, and an estimated 600 million barrels of oil over the next 30 years (Bureau of Land Management, 2023; NPR, 2023; Friedman & Krauss, 2023). Further, ConocoPhillips has projected that in the neighboring land (which they currently lease), they may be able to extract up to 3 billion barrels of oil (NRDC, 2023).

While supporters largely tout the economic utility of the Willow Project, concerns amongst activists, scientists, and some local Native communities span the gamut of environmental harm, legal precedent, timeliness, and ecological justice. Though the updated and final Environmental Impact statement is more expansive and considers more aspects of wildlife and the environment than the original, the project will still be more environmentally devastating than many activists and scholars say it is worth (Protect Our Winters, 2023). The project has been described as a "carbon bomb," referencing the 9.2 million metric tons of carbon emissions that it will expel into the atmosphere (NRDC, 2023). Further, the migration patterns of many native animals will still be negatively

⁵ Inclusive of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Native Village of Nuiqsut, Iñupiat Community of the Arctic Slope, City of Nuiqsut, North Slope Borough, and the State of Alaska (U.S Department of the Interior, 2023).

impacted by the project, and erosion has and will worsen (NPR, 2023). Conservative estimations of the environmental impact on the ground of the project include the loss of 532 acres of wetland, 619 acres of polar bear habitat disturbances, and more than 17,000 acres of habitat and migratory disturbances of birds in the area (NRDC, 2023). Ultimately, while the affiliated organizations claim that the alternatives implemented for the project will be able to mitigate the majority of the issues that the project would cause environmentally by, for example, limiting infrastructure building and vehicle trips, the fact of the matter is that they will still negatively impact the area (BLM, 2023).

The reliance of America, specifically, on gas, has created a society that finds it difficult to function with even the threat of its removal. It is a fact that due to the level of integration of oil within infrastructure, economic and cultural systems, and consumerism, the reduction of utilization of oil is a tall task (NPR, 2023). While President Biden may have kept his word by legal standards, there is still concern about how his administration has been handling oil drilling projects and permits to drill. While the Bureau of Land Management can legally only proceed with applications to drill that meet the requirements of current environmental policy, a 2020 report by the U.S. Government Accountability Office showed that the government very rarely denies drilling permits (GAO, 2020). From 2014 to 2019, more than 95% of the APDs that were submitted were approved.

Further, as per ConocoPhillips' website, it considers itself to be committed to "efficient and effective exploration and production of oil and natural gas" (ConocoPhillips, 2023). However, as many activists and scholars note, the production of oil and natural gases is not efficient or timely by its very nature (NPR, 2023). Oil drilling projects take a long time to come to fruition. Additionally, the Willow Project and ConocoPhillips have been the subjects of multiple lawsuits by movements and organizations such as Earthjustice in attempts to slow or completely stop the project from happening (Defenders of Wildlife, 2023; State of Alaska Department of Law, 2023; Earth Justice, 2023).

In an interview with NPR, Nagruk Harcharek, president of the Voice of the Arctic Inupiat, discussed why the group has voiced continuous support for the Willow Project. Specifically, Harcharek mentions the economic benefits of the project and other oil drilling projects like it for the Native communities in the area (NPR, 2023). As previously mentioned, one of the biggest pulls of the projects is the money and jobs the projects bring in. Here we can also see a form of a metabolic rift that has been forced upon communities, namely Indigenous communities, wherein there is the necessity of work and money; however, they must risk the land that they live on, their relationship with the land, and their health and safety to attain these necessary facets of life. Allowing projects like the Willow Project to continue sets the precedent that silence in the face of environmental injustice can be 'bought' by the appearance of economic attainment, even when members of the community have spoken up against the projects (Ahtuangaruak, et al., 2023).

The Willow Project as an Example

Through the lens of environmental justice, the Willow Project holds a great amount of potential. The future of the project stands as a precedent for future oil drilling operations, as well as land leasing, fossil fuel production and consumption, and the treatment and prioritization of non-human animals, vegetation and landscape, and Native human communities in environmentally related legislation and decision-making. At its current position, where the project is still in development due to lawsuits and the considerable timeline involved with any oil drilling project, the Willow Project can be a prime example of the utilization of a restorative justice model to allow for the consideration of accountability.

It is within the current retributive criminal justice system that the Willow Project has been allowed to continue. While the newest ROD has generated small changes in impact to human and non-human animals, as well as the surrounding environment, there is still strong concern and accepted fact that the project will be harmful to the environment, migrating animals, the health and safety of nearby communities, the atmosphere, and future generations of human and non-human animals (Bureau of Land Management, 2023; NRDC, 2023; Protect Our Winters, 2023). Within this retributive system, any harm that comes from this project is considered acceptable loss in the pursuit of profit and human gain (Marx, 1894). This is because the current system focuses on the instrumental value of entities (Marx, 1894; Sandler, 2012). Thus, there is little consideration of the intrinsic value that these entities hold.

Within the retributive system that the Willow Project is set to continue in, not all viable victims are considered through the lens of their intrinsic value, instead they are considered at the level of their acceptable losses. For example, within the new ROD the amount of helicopter or vehicle trips are viewed in the context of "least potential" to harm or disturb wildlife (Bureau of Land Management, 2023). However, "least potential" for harm and disturbance within the context of the Willow Project includes issues such as the possibility that the availability of resources for surrounding wildlife and communities

could decrease due to "loss or alteration of habitat...; disturbance or displacement of animals; or direct injury or mortality", this is however considered an acceptable loss within the ROD (Bureau of Land Management, 2023, p.21). Should any harm outside of what was allowed in the ROD occur, the most that can be done is the instigation of fines against the corporation, ConocoPhillips (Cornell Law School, 2022). Fundamentally, ascribing a monetary value to the loss of life, habitat, environment, etc., which if the company is capable of paying allows them to continue to cause the harm at the expense of a fine.

As previously mentioned, within the current criminal justice system, harms and acts that are deemed criminal are viewed as a violation of the state, and not as the violation of social relationships or the harm to the victim (Calhoun, 2013). Thus, if the state has greenlit the harm to occur, the voices of those who are harmed no longer take the forefront of the conversation. There is no establishment of accountability because, through a legal lens, the harm that is committed is an acceptable harm as it has been approved by the state. The Willow Project within the current retributive system, allows for the perpetuation of harm through the continuation of the concept of human supremacy over the environment by prioritizing the amount of money and oil that the project will produce over the harmful impacts to migratory patterns, carbon emissions, etc. This consideration that there is human supremacy over the environment is an example of Marx's metabolic rift (1894). The continuation of the Willow Project, and projects like it, show the prioritization of human interest and the drive for profit over all else with a disregard for the impact on the environment and the human and non-human animals surrounding the area.

Within a restorative justice framework instead of that of a retributive justice system one of the primary considerations is the impact of the harm on the victim and community. As previously mentioned, restorative justice focuses upon the needs of the victims instead of the interests of the state or government (Calhoun, 2013;). When considering harmful corporate behavior, the victims and their community should be at the forefront of the discussion. Considering the Willow Project in this context the number of victims is very large, and they include human and non-human entities. The RODs and the conversation through a legal lens of the Willow project prioritizes the possibility of profit and production *over* the harm that these endeavors will cause, meaning that the harms are secondary to the possibility of economic growth – an acceptable level of harm.

CHAPTER 3

DISCUSSION

Restorative justice practices in instances of environmental harm and injustices committed by corporations can be divided into two categories: proactive and reactive. Prior to the occurrence of the event or even in the early stages of the event, a proactive approach can be taken. After an event is in its final stages or has been completed, the reactive approach will be necessary. Currently, the Willow Project is still within the window of proactive options. Firstly, as with any restorative justice model, those victimized must be considered. In the case of the Willow Project, there are many potential and current living beings that have been victimized, including the non-human animals of the area, wilderness and vegetation, Native human communities, and future (human and non-human) generations⁶. Further, potential perpetrators of harm would also be involved; for the Willow Project, this includes ConocoPhillips and potentially representatives from the EPA, BLM, and the Biden administration. Finally, the community surrounding those victimized must also be considered and involved in communication through a restorative justice model because all those impacted by harm should be included in conversations on that harm to allow for healing and restoration throughout all involved social relationships (Calhoun, 2013). In the case of the Willow Project and other similar environmentally focused cases, this would include the activism and science community.

⁶ Work conducted in the energy sector has seen success in utilizing the imagery of future generations to influence decision making (Hazrati & Heffron, 2021).

Theoretically, current practice does implement discussions between these three groups to a certain limited extent. There is limited public involvement in the approval of environmental impact statements; however, as is the case with the Willow Project, the time frame to become involved is extremely restricted and does not take into account "non-formal" methods of involvement. Environmental groups noted that the public only had a 45-day comment period for participation in the case of the Willow Project (Evergreen Action, 2022). This 45-day period for public participation included the participation of Native communities in the area, who were preparing for whaling season during that time (Evergreen Action, 2022). Further, the EIS and records of decision did not consider the "non-formal" methods of public participation, including several petitions against the project from Greenpeace, Change.org, and others that garnered over 5.2 million signatures (Greenpeace, 2023; MoveOn, 2023; Protect the Arctic, 2023; Daily Kos, 2023; Change.org, 2023). Thus, while there are attempts to include all parties in discussions, these attempts are weak at best.

However, these moments of collaboration are extremely limited in a way that would not be tangible under a restorative justice model. The current methods included in the records of decision allow for small groups of collaboration between the public and the organizations involved in the record of decision. However, within the restorative justice framework, this would be greatly expanded by extending timeframes for discussion throughout the process and include increase the options for inclusion as well. Using current technology such as video calling using options like Zoom, Google Meet, or FaceTime, individuals who would be affected by the proposed project would be able to be involved. Further, including non-formal methods of participation will allow more actors impacted by the harm to be involved in communication.

A restorative justice approach would center intrinsic value instead of instrumental value, and this would ensure that any and all victims are kept safe, their needs are met, and, if any harm has occurred, that harm be restored. Realistic applications may include expansions of current practices, such as the previously mentioned public involvement in EIS (environmental impact statements) and RODs (records of decision), as well as the introduction of other forms of regulations, legislation, and policies. Ideally, using a restorative justice method as a proactive measure, restoration, and accountability in the form of compensation would not be necessary as the situation would not reach the point of being harmful.

A proactive measure would be a practice such as public and academic involvement to a greater extent than currently occurs. When considering the types of victims that may be included, once intrinsic value is considered, the academic and activist communities are necessary to include all types of viable victims, any entity that will be harmed in the process and implementation of the project. A whale, for example, cannot advocate for themselves; however, a marine biologist or a marine conservationist can advocate for them. Specifically in the case of the Willow Project, one can consider the non-human animals that live and migrate through the area, the Native communities, namely the Nuiqsut, have voiced concern for these animals and for their own safety in regard to the project. As these Native communities have been living in unison with these non-human animals for a long time, it would make sense that their voices should be considered essential in these conversations. In addition to their contributions, animal

36

advocates and experts in the area should be included in discussions on what is considered "acceptable losses" of habitat and non-human life. These contributions can be in the form of storytelling, research dissemination, conversations on lived experience, etc. Further, considering, for example, future generations prior to conducting a plan for a project may change the outcome to be less problematic. In considering the harm that will be caused by the Willow Project as harmful action instead of acceptable loss, there is the possibility of the establishment of accountability for harm due to the recognition that harm is being and will be caused. Ultimately, the viable victims that will be harmed in this project have not had their voices heard to a sufficient level. Thus, it becomes necessary in a restorative justice approach to create a translational and inclusive atmosphere.

Fundamentally, the alterations that were made to the Willow Project between the two records of decision are not enough. Though the most recent ROD does limit the project slightly, ultimately, it will still wreak environmental havoc upon the non-human animals, vegetation, human communities, and surrounding areas. This also does not consider the impact of consumption that will come from the project's produced oil. The changes to the Willow Project in the newest ROD are simply a way for the current administration to claim to have done better by the environment than their predecessor without actually doing much better. In a restorative framework lens, the changes that were made in the newest ROD continue to exhibit the issue of putting profit above harm. If a true proactive restorative approach was to be utilized, then the harms that will occur would be prioritized over the profit the project will generate. This is because in a restorative justice framework that focuses on the intrinsic value of all entities, and thus allows them to be viable victims of harm, the harm that is caused to the social

relationships, and to the victims of the behavior, are more important than the needs (or wants) of the state.

Accountability in a restorative justice framework does not necessarily come in the form of traditional punishment but in the form of restoration to the victim. Restorative justice makes more sense in an environmental context than retributive practices. As an initial consideration, restorative justice centers the victims (or potential victims), which allows for their input in what would be best to restore the harm that may have been committed. Further, restorative justice practices are not as restricting as retributive justice in that it is not as individualistic or punishment focused. Should a harm have been committed, then the community and victim should have the opportunity to advocate for the resolution they feel would be the most restorative. These options could include practices such as apologies combined with financial compensation or environmental compensation such as planting trees, investing in environmental programmes and policies, etc.

Not only does a restorative justice framework allow for the consideration of all victims, but it also allows for a multitude of methods to atone for the harm that was caused. It also would allow for multiple types of restoration, supposing there are multiple victims, such as in the case of the Willow Project, where victims span the gamut of Native human communities to migratory birds and vegetation to future generations of human and non-human animals. In environmental cases that involve non-human animals or the environment as victims, the restoration process may not look the same as that with a human victim. Options like apologies coupled with financial restoration or the replanting of an area are all viable options. This framework will create the circumstances

38

for better establishment of accountability by empowering the voices of those who have been harmed and providing the space for conversation and discussion. However, for this to happen there must be societal acceptance of the importance of intrinsic value and the framework itself.

Creating institutional change is difficult, and even more so, changing the accepted norms and beliefs of a society. Thus, a restorative justice approach does not necessarily have to begin with such a major shift. Instead, the reformulation of current practices to be more inclusive and more accessible to the public and academic or activist communities can be a starting point. Returning to the example of the 45-day comment period for public participation and the lack of consideration of petitions and outcry regarding the Willow Project, at its core, this form of participation can be a part of a restorative model. Here we could see a restorative justice model take place by creating an event of discussion wherein further involvement by potential victims, advocates and academics, and potential perpetrators of harm can be had. This focus on communication instead of forced acceptance and convenient disregard of massive outcry can be a starting point towards creating understanding and moving towards a more environmentally sound outcome. Currently, the implication of the way that the Willow Project has been conducted prioritizes the economy, the corporation, and their interests, and not the safety or priorities of the potential victims. Once the intrinsic value of the potential victims is considered and equity amongst actors involved can be established, then considerations of harm and restoration can be finalized.

CHAPTER 4

IMPLICATIONS

The utilization of restorative justice to establish accountability for environmental harm creates a baseline for using these models to address other forms of harm and acts that are deemed criminal. Specifically, utilizing restorative justice models in other forms of corporate harm and more 'traditional' deemed criminal acts could also allow for a shift away from a fear-based society. Much of orthodox criminology focuses heavily on deterrence, fear, and punishment rather than more holistic considerations of healing, accountability, and peace. There seems to be a belief that if we "figure out" crime, we will create a "safer" space for everyone. However, these ideas leave a lot of questions unanswered. Who is everyone? What is safe? When will we know that we've "figured out" crime? Using restorative justice practices and centering intrinsic value allows us to expand our horizons and our preconceived notions of what justice is and who deserves it by investing in our communities, centering the voices and advocates of victims and the surrounding environment instead of punishment and perpetuating harm.

Current systems within American societies, inclusive of the criminal justice, legal, and governmental systems, focus heavily on the idea of individualistic retributive punishment. To truly embrace a restorative justice approach would require fundamental societal change. Academic support within criminology for restorative principles has grown over time, as has the support of the public, however the fact remains that these practices are still currently situated within a retributive system and focus upon harms and acts deemed criminal committed by individuals (Karp & Frank, 2016). Ultimately, to fully embrace a restorative justice framework the concept of justice needs to be reframed. Instead of focusing upon punishment and the continuation of harm as retribution for a harmful act, there must be a centering of restoration and accountability to promote safety and peace within society. Thus, amongst the changes in legislation and regulation that do need to come first, a translational approach to restorative justice must be implemented. Further, considering intrinsic value and viable victims as a primary thought instead of a secondary one would force laws and legislation to also consider non-human animals and the environment within rulemaking. Thus, allowing for the establishment of accountability and the taking of active responsibility for harms by the offenders who perpetuate the harms will allow for important changes in environmental justice. Unlike retributive justice, restorative justice outcomes endeavor to ensure that future harms are not committed, and that the needs of the victims, human and non-human, and the community are at the forefront of the discussion of how the offender should exemplify that they recognize their accountability for the harm that they have caused (Calhoun, 2013). Environmental justice should not just be justice for humans but also for the environment around us.

Establishing accountability and accepting active responsibility are the first steps in the process of creating a better and more sustainable world for future generations of humans and the continued flourishment of non-human animals and vegetation. Within a proactive or reactive restorative justice model, this requires the establishment of accountability for harmful acts and the possibility of harmful acts. Considering, for example, future generations of human or non-human animals as a victim allows us to consider a proactive consideration for actions such as the Willow project. In a proactive model, the establishment of accountability for the possibility of a harmful act can be mitigated in considering possible victims such as future generations of human and nonhuman animals, by choosing to follow other avenues such as generating alternatives that are appropriate and agreed upon by all parties or committing to other actions such as investing in education and training in environmental contexts (Hazrati & Heffron, 2021). The consideration of viable victims, however, requires the consideration of intrinsic value. This requires a shift away from anthropocentrism. Future research in this area should focus on considerations of allowing for systemic change surrounding the concept of anthropocentrism.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSION

As concerns for the environment continue to grow, over time, current systems to establish accountability for harms and crimes against the environment have proven to be lacking. Only a handful of countries worldwide have adopted laws against ecocide; Russia (1996), Kazakhstan (1997), Kyrgyz Republic, Tajikistan, Georgia, Belarus, Ukraine, Moldova, and Armenia (2003) (Eichler, 2020; Ecocide Law, nd.). It is apparent that current systems, such as our criminal justice systems and education systems, ways of retributional thinking that focuses harmful punishments as justice, and regulatory powers have not seen success in ceasing humankind's negative impact on our environment. Thus, we must advocate for a bigger change.

Utilizing restorative justice models will allow us as a society to better ourselves and the world around us rather than be such a negative impact on our surroundings. A fundamental shift in the way that we think is required for the longevity of our species. If we continue to exacerbate this metabolic rift between humankind and the environment through constant overconsumption, we will create for ourselves the circumstances for our demise. If we continue to allow the environment to be devastated by corporations and governments with no consequences or the establishment of accountability, all that we will get in return is a planet that is no longer capable of sustaining human life upon it. If nothing is done to address harms against the environment where those committing these atrocities are allowed to quietly continue their practices, the auto-genocide that we are ourselves creating the circumstances for will certainly be the end of human life on earth, not with a bang but with a whisper.

REFERENCES

Adeola, F. (1994). Environmental hazards, health, and racial inequity in hazardous waste distribution. *Environment and Behavior*, 26(1), 99-126

Agnew, R. (2012). The ordinary acts that contribute to ecocide. In Avi Brisman and Nigel South (Eds.) *Routledge International Handbook of Green Criminology* (2nd ed., pp 52-67). Routledge.

Ahk, S. (2021). "Biden Administration and ConocoPhillips: SAY NO TO THE WILLOW PROJECT!" https://www.change.org/p/joseph-r-biden-biden-administration-and-conocophillips-say-no-to-the-willow-project

Ahtuangaruak, R., Brower, C., & Brower, E. (March 2023). [Letter from representatives of the City and Native Village of Nuiqsut to Debra Haaland, Secretary United States Department of the Interior, 2023]. Retrieved from <u>https://ndncollective-org.nyc3.cdn.digitaloceanspaces.com/app/uploads/2023/03/Letter-from-Ahtuangaruak-Brower-and-Brower.pdf</u>

Al-Khawaldeh, N. (2015). Different perspectives of approaching the concept of culture within politeness field. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, *6*(6), 399-406.

Anderson, E. (1994). *The code of the streets*. The Atlantic. https://www.theatlantic.com/magazine/archive/1994/05/the-code-of-the-streets/306601/

Andrews, R. (2008). *Managing the environment, managing ourselves: A history of American environmental policy*. Yale University Press.

Bigwood, J. (2001). *Toxic drift: Monsanto and the drug war in Colombia*. CorpWatch. https://www.corpwatch.org/article/toxic-drift-monsanto-and-drug-war-colombia

Benecchi, L. (2021). *Recidivism imprisons American Progress*. https://harvardpolitics.com/recidivism-americanprogress/#:~:text=The%20U.S.%20has%20one%20of,are%20rearrested%20within%20fi ve%20years.

BLM National NEPA Register. (2023). *Willow Master Development Plan Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement*. https://eplanning.blm.gov/eplanning-ui/project/109410/510

Brady, L. M. (2014). The invention of ecocide: Agent Orange, Vietnam, and the scientists who changed the way we think about the environment by David Zierler (review). *Journal of Cold War Studies*, *16*(1), 224-226.

Brisman, A. & South, N. (2014). Green cultural criminology. Routledge.

Britannica, T. Editors of Encyclopaedia (2023, June 29). *ConocoPhillips. Encyclopedia Britannica*. https://www.britannica.com/topic/ConocoPhillips

Bullard, R. D. (1994). Environmental racism and invisible communities. *West Virginia Law Review*, *96*(4), 1037-1050.

Buell, F. (2012). A short history of oil cultures: Or, the marriage of catastrophe and exuberance. *Journal of American Studies*, *46*(2), 273-293. https://www.jstor.org/stable/23259137

Bullard, R. D. (1994). The legacy of American apartheid and environmental racism. Journal of Civil Rights and Economic Development, 9(2)

Bureau of Land Management (2020, October 27). *The Trump administration approves the Willow master development plan* [Press Release]. <u>https://www.blm.gov/press-</u> release/trump-administration-approves-willow-master-development-plan

Bureau of Land Management (2018, August 7). *BLM seeking public input for proposed development of Willow prospect* [News Release]. https://eplanning.blm.gov/public_projects/nepa/109410/153464/187964/AK_18-29 Willow MDP_NewsRelease.pdf

Bureau of Land Management (2019, August 23). *Proposed Willow Development plan available for public comment* [News Release]. https://eplanning.blm.gov/public_projects/nepa/109410/20002276/250002701/AK_19-24_Willow_MDP_DEIS.pdf

Calhoun, A. (2013). Introducing restorative justice: Re-visioning responses to wrongdoing. *The Prevention Researcher*, 20(1), 3-6.

Center for Biological Diversity. (2023). *Biden administration sued over Willow oil project in Alaska's Western Arctic*. <u>https://biologicaldiversity.org/w/news/press-releases/conservation-groups-sue-biden-administration-to-stop-willow-oil-project-in-alaskas-western-arctic-2023-03-15/</u>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (1984). 2, 3, 7, 8 – Tetrachlorodibenzo-pdioxin (TCDD, "dioxin"). https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/84-104/default.html

Cheadle, D. (2007). *Not on our watch: The mission to end genocide*. Hyperion. Ciorciari, J. D. (n.d.). "Auto-genocide" and the Cambodian reign of terror. http://www-personal.umich.edu/~johncior/files/Ciorciari%20chapter%20(2004).pdf

Cliff, G. & Wall-Parker, A. (2017). *Statistical analysis of white-collar crime*. Criminology and Criminal Justice. https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190264079.013.267

Crook, M. & Short, D. (2014). Marx, Lemkin and the genocide-ecocide nexus. *The International Journal of Human Rights, 18*(3), 289-319, DOI: 10.1080/13642987.2014.914703

Cocklin, K.R. (1977). *Functions of criminal justice – procedures, tasks and personnel.* <u>https://www.ojp.gov/ncjrs/virtual-library/abstracts/functions-criminal-justice-procedures-tasks-and-personnel</u>

ConocoPhillips. (2023). About us. https://www.conocophillips.com/about-us/

Cornell Law School. (2022). *Environmental law violations*. <u>https://www.law.cornell.edu/wex/environmental_law_violations#:~:text=U.S.%20crimin</u> al%20law%20characterizes%20an,while%20corporations%20face%20stiff%20fines.

Cunneen, C. (2002). Restorative justice and the politics of decolonization. In E.G.M. Weitekamp & H. Kerner (Eds.), *Restorative justice: Theoretical foundations*, (p.32-43). Willan publishing.

Davis, M. (2022). The state of abortion rights in the US. *International Journal of Gynecology Obstetrics*, 159, 324-329.

Defenders of Wildlife. (2023). Federal judge allows construction to proceed in ConocoPhillips' Willow project in Alaska. <u>https://defenders.org/newsroom/federal-judge-allows-construction-proceed-conocophillips-willow-project-alaska#:~:text=The%20plaintiffs%27%20lawsuit%20notes%20that,areas%20in%20the%20Western%20Arctic.</u>

DeMarban, A. (2023). *Alaska oil producers squeezed more oil out of the North Slope in 2022*. Anchorage Daily News. https://www.adn.com/business-economy/energy/2023/01/12/alaska-oil-producers-squeezed-more-oil-out-of-the-north-slope-in-2022/

Department of Energy. (2023). *The economic benefits of oil and gas*. <u>https://www.energy.gov/articles/economic-impact-oil-and-gas</u>

Department of Veterans Affairs. (2021). *America's wars*. https://www.va.gov/opa/publications/factsheets/fs_americas_wars.pdf

Desikan, A., MacKinney, T., Kalman, C., Carter, J.M., Reed, G., & Goldman, G.T. (2023). An equity and environmental justice assessment of anti-science actions during the

Trump administration. *Journal of Public Health Policy*, 44, 147-162, https://doi.org/10.1057/s41271-022-00390-6

Dewan, T. (2023). "Say no to The Willow Project!!" https://community.greenpeace.org.nz/petitions/stop-the-willow-project-79

Dillon, L., Sellers, C., Underhill, V., Shapiro, N., Ohayon, J.L., Sullivan, M., Brown, P., Harrison, J., Wylie, S., EPA Under Siege Writing Group. (2018). The environmental protection agency in the early Trump administration: Prelude to regulatory capture. *AJPH*, *108*(S2), S89-S94.

Dillon, L., Walker, D., Shapiro, N., Underhill, V., Martenyi, M., Wylie, S., Lave, R., Murphy, M., Brown, P., the Environmental Data and Governance Initiative. (2017). Environmental data justice and the Trump administration: Reflections from the environmental data and governance initiative. *Environmental Justice*, *10*(6), 186-192. 10.1089/env.2017.0020

Dunlap, A. (2021). The politics of ecocide, genocide, and megaprojects: Interrogating natural resource extraction, identity, and the normalization of erasure. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 23(2), 212-235. DOI: 10.1080/14623528.2020.1754051

Earth Justice. (2023). *Biden administration says yes to the Willow Project. We'll see them in court*. https://earthjustice.org/brief/2023/biden-administration-says-yes-to-the-willow-project-but-the-fight-is-just-heating-up

Earth Justice. (2023). 140+ organizations and businesses urge Biden administration to reject ConocoPhillips' dangerous Willow Project. https://earthjustice.org/press/2022/140- organizations-and-businesses-urge-biden-administration-to-reject-conocophillips- dangerous-willow-project

Eichler, L. (2020). Ecocide is genocide: Decolonizing the definition of genocide. *Genocide Studies and Prevention: An International Journal, 14*(2), 104-121. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5038/1911-9933.14.2.1720

End Ecocide. (n.d.). *Examples of ecocide*. https://www.endecocide.org/en/examples-of-ecocide/

Environmental Protection Agency. (2023). National environmental policy act review process. <u>https://www.epa.gov/nepa/national-environmental-policy-act-review-process</u>

Etchart, L. (2017). The role of indigenous peoples in combating climate change. *Palgrave Commun 3*. https://doi.org/10.1057/palcomms.2017.85

Evergreen Action. (2022). RE: Draft Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement for the Willow Project.

https://eplanning.blm.gov/public_projects/109410/200258032/20067208/250073390/Ever green%20Willow%20Project%20Technical%20Comments%20(1).pdf

Foster, J.B. (1999). Marx's theory of metabolic rift: Classical foundations for environmental sociology. *American Journal of Sociology*, *105*(2), 366-405.

Forsyth, M., Soares, M.K., & Tepper, F. (2021). A future agenda for environmental restorative justice? The International Journal for Restorative Justice, 4(1), 17-40. 10.5553/TIJRJ.000063

Friedman, L. & Krauss, C. (2023). *In pristine Alaska, an oil giant prepares to drill for decades*. New York Times. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2023/04/06/climate/willow-alaska-oil-biden.html</u>

Gabbay, Z. (2005). Justifying restorative justice: A theoretical justification for the use of restorative justice practices. *Journal of Dispute Resolution*, 2(4).

Gibbs, C., Gore, M. L., McGarrell, E.F., & Rivers, III, L. (2009). Introducing conservation criminology: Towards interdisciplinary scholarship on environmental crimes and risks. *The British Journal of Criminology*, *50*(1), 124-144.

George W. Bush Presidential Library and Museum. (n.d.). *Global war on terror*. https://www.georgewbushlibrary.gov/research/topic-guides/global-war-terror

Graham, M. (2023). With the Willow Project on the horizon, some Alaska Natives worry about traditional foods. <u>https://grist.org/food/willow-project-alaska-natives-traditional-foods-oil/</u>

Greenfield, V. A. & Paoli, L. (2013). A framework to assess the harms of crimes. *British Journal of Criminology*, 53, 864-885.

Harcharek, N. (2023). *Policymakers must look 'North to the Future' to Alaska for American energy independence*. <u>https://alaskabeacon.com/2023/04/13/policymakers-</u> <u>must-look-north-to-the-future-to-alaska-for-american-energy-independence/</u>

Harrod, H. (2000). *The animals came dancing: Native American sacred ecology and animal kinship.* University of Arizona Press.

Hazrati, M & Heffron, R.J. (2021). Conceptualizing restorative justice in the energy transition: Changing the perspectives of fossil fuels. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 78,1-14, https://www.energy.gov/articles/economic-impact-oil-and-gas

Henry, S. & Lanier, M. M. (1998) The prism of crime: Arguments for an integrated definition of crime, *Justice Quarterly*, *15*:4, 609-627, DOI: 10.1080/07418829800093921

Hernandez, J. (2023). *The Biden administration approves the controversial Willow drilling project in Alaska*. NPR. https://www.npr.org/2023/03/13/1163075377/willow-drilling-project-alaska-approved-biden

Hess, J., Bednarz, D., Bae, J., & Pierce, J. (2011). Petroleum and health care: evaluating and managing health care's vulnerability to petroleum supply shifts. *American journal of public health*, *101*(9), 1568–1579. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2011.300233</u>

Higgins, P., Short, D., & South, N. (2013). Protecting the planet: A proposal for a law of ecocide. *Crime, Law and Social Change, 59*, 251-266.

Hillyard, P. & Tombs, S. (2007). From 'crime' to social harm? *Crime Law Soc Change*, *48*, 9-25. DOI 10.1007/s10611-007-9079-z

Hitchcock, P. (2010). Oil in an American imaginary. *New Formations, 69*(69), 81-97. 10.3898/NEWF.69.04.2010

Karp, D.R. & Frank, O. (2016). Anxiously awaiting the future of restorative justice in the United States. *Victims & Offenders*, *11*, 50-70. 10.1080/15564886.2015.1107796

Karstedt, S., Brehm, H. N., & Frizzell, L.C. (2021). Genocide, mass atrocity, and theories of crime: Unlocking criminology's potential. *Annual Review of Criminology*, *4*, 75-97

Lamond, G. (2007). What is a crime? Oxford Journal of Legal Studies. 27(4), 609-632.

Lemkin, R. (1946). Genocide. The American Scholar, 15(2), 227-230

Lemkin, R. (1945). Genocide a modern crime. Free World 39, 9(4), 39-43.

Lincoln, S. F. (2005). Fossil fuels in the 21st century. *Ambio*, *34*(8), 621-627. https://www.jstor.org/stable/4315666

Lindgren, T. (2018). Ecocide, genocide and the disregard of alternative life-systems. *The International Journal of Human Rights, 22*(4). 525-549. 10.1080/13642987.2017.1397631

Lindsey, R. & Dahlman, L. (2023). *Climate change: Global temperature*. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. https://www.climate.gov/news-features/understanding-climate/climate-change-global-temperature

Lin-Schweitzer, A. (2022). *Integrated effort needed to mitigate fracking while protecting both humans and the environment*. Yale School of Public Health. https://ysph.yale.edu/news-article/integrated-effort-needed-to-mitigate-fracking-while-protecting-both-humans-and-the-environment/ Maruna, S. & King, A. (2009). Once a criminal, always a criminal?: 'Redeemability' and the psychology of punitive public attitudes. *Eur J Crim Policy Res, 15*, 7-24.

Marx, K. (1894). *Capital Volume III the Process of Capitalist Production as a Whole*. Works of Karl Marx. https://www.marxists.org/archive/marx/works/1894-c3/

Mackenzie, D.L. (2001). Sentencing and corrections in the 21st century: Setting the stage for the future. https://www.ojp.gov/sites/g/files/xyckuh241/files/archives/ncjrs/189106-2.pdf

McGarrell, E.F. & Gibbs, C. (2014). *Conservation criminology, environmental crime, and risk: An application to climate change*. Oxford Handbook Topics in Criminology and Criminal Justice

Mendoza, L. (2023). "Stop the willow project." <u>https://sign.moveon.org/petitions/stop-the-willow-project-38</u>

Menkel-Meadow, C. (2007). Restorative justice: What is it and does it work? *Annual Review of Law and Social Sciences*, *3*, 161-187.

Michalowski, R. (1985). Order, law, and crime – An introduction to criminology. Random House.

Michalowski, R. (2008). Power, crime and criminology in the new imperial age. *Crime Law Soc Change*, *51*, 303-325.

Michalowski, R. (2015). What is crime? Critical Criminology, 24, 181-199.

Mignolo, W. D. (2007). Coloniality of power and de-colonial thinking. *Cultural Studies*, 21(2-3), 155-167.

National Energy Technology Laboratory. (n.d.) *Alaska North Slope oil and gas resources assessment*. https://netl.doe.gov/node/3220

NPR. (2023). Alaska, The Willow Project, and The Future of Fossil Fuels. https://www.npr.org/2023/03/22/1165353140/alaska-the-willow-project-and-the-futureof-fossil-fuels

NRDC. (2023). Why the Willow Project is a bad idea. <u>https://www.nrdc.org/stories/why-willow-project-bad-</u>

idea#:~:text=The%20Biden%20administration%20acknowledges%20that,two%20millio n%20gas%2Dpowered%20cars. NRDC. (2019). Corporate honesty and climate change: Time to own up and act. https://www.nrdc.org/bio/josh-axelrod/corporate-honesty-and-climate-change-time-ownand-act

O'Connor, S. & Kenter, J. O. (2019). Making intrinsic values work; integrating intrinsic values of the more-than-human world through the Life Framework of Values. *Sustainability Science*, *14*, 1247-1265.

OpenStaxCollege (n.d.) *The impact of colonialization*. U.S. History. https://pressbooksdev.oer.hawaii.edu/ushistory/chapter/the-impact-of-colonization/

Pastor, Jr., M., Sadd, J., & Hipp, J. (2001). Which came first? Toxic facilities, minority move-in, and environmental justice. *Journal of Urban Affairs*. 23(1), 1-21.

Preston, B.J. (2011). The use of restorative justice for environmental crime.

Protect the Arctic. (2023). "Urgent: Tell the CEO of ConocoPhillips to reconsider the Willow Project!" https://www.protectthearctic.org/stop-willow

Protect Our Winters. (2023). *The Willow Project*. https://protectourwinters.org/campaign/willow/

Ratima, M. (2019). Leadership for planetary health and sustainable development: Health promotion community capacities for working with Indigenous peoples in the application of Indigenous knowledge. *Global Health Promotion*, 26(4), 3-5.

Richardson, D. & May, H. (2001). Deserving victims?: Sexual status and the social construction of violence. *The Sociological Review*, 47(2), 308-331.

Roberts, D. E. (2007). Constructing Criminal Justice System Free of Racial Bias: An Abolitionist Framework. *Columbia Human Rights Law Review*, *39*(1), 261-286.

Robinson, P. H. (1975). Theory of justification: societal harm as prerequisite for criminal liability. UCLA Law Review, 23(2), 266-292.

Ruckelshaus, W. D. (1985). Environmental protection: brief history of the environmental movement in America and the implications abroad. *Environmental Law*, 15(3), 455-470.

Ručman, A.B. (2019). What is crime? A search for an answer encompassing civilizational legitimacy and social harm. *Crime, Law and Social Change, 72*, 211-226. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10611-019-09812-1

Ruggiero, V. & South, N. (2010). Green criminology and dirty collar crime. *Critical Criminology*, *18*(4), 251-262. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10612-010-9122-8

Saladin, M., Saper, Z., & Breen, L. (1988). Perceived Attractiveness and Attributions of Criminality: What Is Beautiful is Not Criminal. *Canadian Journal of Criminology*, *30*(3), 251-260.

Samet, J., Burke, T., & Goldstein, B. (2017). The Trump administration and the environment – Heed the science. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *376*. 10.1056/NEJMms1615242

Sandler, R. (2012). Intrinsic value, ecology, and conservation. *Nature Education Knowledge*, 3(10).

Sarre, R. (1999). *Restorative justice: Translating the theory into practice*. [Keynote address]. Restorative Justice, OARS, Adelaide.

Schwendinger, H. & Schwendinger, J. (1977). Social class and the definition of crime. *Crime and Social Justice*, *7*, 4-13.

Schwendinger, H., & Schwendinger, J. R. (1972). The Continuing Debate on the Legalistic Approach to the Definition of Crime. *Issues in Criminology*, 7(1), 71-82.

Singh, A., & Sprott, J. B. (2017). Race Matters: Public Views on Sentencing. *Canadian Journal of Criminology and Criminal Justice*, 59(3), 285-312.

Sollund, R. & Goyes, D. R. (2021). State-organized crime and the killing of wolves in Norway. *Trends in Organized Crime, 24*, 467-484.

South, N. (1998). Corporate and state crimes against the environment. Routledge.

South, N. & Wyatt, T. (2011). Comparing illicit trades in wildlife and drugs: An exploratory study. *Deviant Behavior*, *32*:6, 538-561, DOI: 10.1080/01639625.2010.483162

Stark, A. (2016). Environmental restorative justice. *Pepperdine Dispute Resolution Law Journal*, *16*(3), 435-462.

State of Alaska Department of Law. (2023, March 24). *The state intervenes in federal lawsuits that challenge Willow project and opposes effort to stop construction* [Press Release]. <u>https://law.alaska.gov/press/releases/2023/032423-Willow.html</u>

Stellman, J. M. & Stellman, S. D. (2018). Agent Orange during the Vietnam War: The lingering issue of its civilian and military health impact. *American Journal of Public Health*, *6*, 726-728

Stop Ecocide International. (2022). *Leading states, key dates*. https://www.stopecocide.earth/leading-states

Strega, S., Janzen, C., Morgan, J., Brown, L., Thomas, R., & Carriére, J. (2014). Never innocent victims: Street sex workers in Canadian print media. *Violence Against Women*, 20(1), 6-25.

Straus, S. (2005). Darfur and the genocide debate. Foreign Affairs, 84(1), 123-133.

Suter II, G. W. (2008). Ecological risk assessment in the United States environmental protection agency: A historical overview. *Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management*, 4(3), 285-189.

Tappan, P.W. (1947). Who is the criminal? *American Sociological Review*, 12(1), 96-102.

Teclaff, L. A. (1994). Beyond restoration – The case of ecocide. *Natural Resources Journal*, *34*(4), 933-956.

The Nature Conservancy. (2021). *Climate Change FAQs*. <u>https://www.nature.org/en-us/what-we-do/our-priorities/tackle-climate-change/climate-change-stories/climate-change-frequently-asked-questions/</u>

The Wilderness Society. (n.d.). "It's not too late: Stop the Willow project." https://actionnetwork.org/petitions/sign-on-its-not-too-late-stop-the-willow-project

U.S. Department of the Interior. (2023). *Interior department substantially reduces scope of Willow Project*. https://www.doi.gov/pressreleases/interior-department-substantially-reduces-scope-willow-project

U.S. Department of the Interior Bureau of Land Management. (2023). *Willow master development plan supplemental environmental impact statement: Record of Decision*. <u>https://eplanning.blm.gov/public_projects/109410/200258032/20075029/250081211/202</u> <u>3%20Willow%20MDP%20Record%20of%20Decision.pdf</u>

U.S. Department of the Interior Bureau of Land Management. (2020). *Willow master development plan supplemental environmental impact statement: Record of Decision*. <u>https://eplanning.blm.gov/public_projects/109410/200258032/20029172/250035373/202</u> 0-10-27 ROD 508.pdf

U.S. Government Accountability Office. (2020). *Oil and gas permitting: Actions needed to improve BLM's review process and data system*. https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-20-329?itid=lk_inline_enhanced-template

United States Environmental Protection Agency. (2023). *Summary of the Clean Water* Act. https://www.epa.gov/laws-regulations/summary-clean-water-act

Van Ness, D.W. (2005). *An overview of restorative justice around the world*. Eleventh United Nations Congress on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice. <u>https://biblioteca.cejamericas.org/bitstream/handle/2015/4767/dan_van_ness_final_paper.</u> <u>pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</u>

Van Ness, D.W. & Strong, K.H. (2014). *Restoring justice: An introduction to restorative justice*. Routledge.

Van Solinge, T.B. (2010). *Equatorial deforestation as a harmful practice and a criminological issue*. In R. White (Eds.) Global Environmental Harm: Criminological Perspectives, (p.20-36). Willan Publishing.

Van Solinge, T.B. (2014). Researching illegal logging and deforestation. *Crime Justice Journal*, *3*(2), 35-48.

Van Uhm, D.P. (2017). A green criminological perspective on environmental crime: The anthropocentric, ecocentric and biocentric impact of defaunation. *Revue Internationale de Driot Pénal*.

Walker, D. A., & Walker, M. D. (1991). History and pattern of disturbance in Alaskan Arctic terrestrial ecosystems: A hierarchical approach to analyzing landscape change. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 28(1), 244-276. https://www.jstor.org/stable/2404128

Wangkeo, K. (2003). Monumental challenges: the lawfulness of destroying cultural heritage during peacetime. *Yale Journal of International Law, 28*(1), 183-274.

Weyler, R. (2018). A brief history of environmentalism. Greenpeace.

https://www.greenpeace.org/international/story/11658/a-brief-history-of-environmentalism/

Wijdekop, F. & van Hoek, A. (2019). Green criminology and restorative justice: Natural allies? *European Forum for Restorative Justice*, *1*(1).

Winfree, Jr., T. (2002). *Understanding crime: Theory and practice*. Wadsworth Publishing.

Wolfe, P. (2006). Settler colonialism and the elimination of the native. *Journal of Genocide Research*, 8(4), 387-409.

Wolf, B. (2011). 'Green-Collar crime': Environmental crime and justice in the sociological perspective. *Sociology Compass*, 5(7), 499-511.

World Meteorological Association. (2021). Weather-related disasters increase over past 50 years, causing more damage but fewer deaths. https://public.wmo.int/en/media/press-

release/weather-related-disasters-increase-over-past-50-years-causing-more-damage-fewer

Wright, C., Irwin, R., Nyberg, D., & Bowden, V. (2022). 'We're in the coal business': Maintaining fossil fuel hegemony in the face of climate change. *Journal of Industrial Relations*, *64*(4), 544-563, 10.1177/00221856211070632